IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

FEB 14 1997

ANDRE FISHER,

Appellant,

٧.

CLERK, SUPYEME COURT By Chrol Daputy Clerk

CASE NO. 86,665

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DWAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

NADA M. CAREY
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
FLORIDA BAR NO. 1648825
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE
SUITE 401
301 SOUTH MONROE STREET
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
(904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ANDRE FISHER,

Appellant,

v. CASE NO. 86,665

STATE OF FLORIDA, :

Appellee.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS¹

A. Pretrial Proceedings

On the evening of February 15, 1994, unknown persons fired gunshots into the carport area of 5206 Washington Estates Drive in Jacksonville, Florida. Several bullets penetrated a door leading into the kitchen. One of these bullets traveled through the kitchen and into the living room, striking five-year-old Shelton Lucas as he lay sleeping on a couch. Shelton Lucas died the next day.

By February 18, 1994, police had arrested four suspects:

Andre Fisher, Derrick Cummings, Marion Lorenzo King, and Kevin

Dixon. On March 7, 1994, all four suspects were charged with

second-degree murder and shooting or throwing deadly missiles. R

8-10. On April 7, 1994, Marion King gave a sworn statement as

part of a negotiated plea to second-degree murder. In his

statement, King said he drove Cummings, Fisher, and Dixon to the

^{&#}x27;References to Volumes I-II of the record on appeal, containing pleadings and court documents, are designated by "R" and the page number. References to Volumes III-XIV, containing the transcript of trial and sentencing proceedings, are designated by "T" and the page number. References to Volumes I-II of the Supplemental Record are designated by "SR" and the page number. All proceedings were before Circuit Judge Alban E. Brooke.

scene but did not carry his own gun or participate in the shooting. R 153-167. On April 27, 1994, the Duval County grand jury indicted Cummings, Fisher, and Dixon for premeditated first-degree murder. R 24-26.

On January 25, 1995, five days before trial, the Public Defender, representing Dixon, informed the court that ballistics tests had established three shell casings from the crime scene were fired from Marion King's gun, proving King had lied about his gun not being used in the shooting.² T 165-167. Dixon immediately moved to dismiss the indictment on the ground it had been obtained as a result of King's perjured testimony. SR 245-252, T 165. The trial court denied Dixon's motion. Later that same day, Dixon, joined by the state, moved for a continuance, which the trial court denied. SR 242-244, T 193-213.

Two days later, on January 27, 1995, the state announced it was dropping the charges against Dixon because King was a proven liar and King's testimony was the only admissible evidence placing Dixon at the crime scene. T 216-220. Dixon

²In addition to his April 7, 1994, sworn statement that his gun was not used in the shooting, R 159-160, King stated in a January 11, 1995, deposition his gun had been stolen several days before the shooting while he was visiting relatives in Vero Beach. T 169, 172. Although the gun was never recovered, the Public Defender was able to trace it to a previous owner, who supplied the spent shell casings for comparison with the shell casings found at the crime scene. T 217-218.

³The prosecutor informed the court: "[W]e, quite frankly, cannot put Mr. King on the stand because we can't believe and we can't represent to the court that he would tell the truth as to the issue as to whether Mr. Dixon was there or not." T 220. Continuing, the prosecutor noted, "[B]ased on the evidence that we have now we cannot prosecute Dixon. . Dixon may have been there, I just can't prove he was there." T 222.

simultaneously executed a waiver of speedy trial⁴ and filed notice he was invoking his fifth amendment right not to testify.

T 222. The trial court subsequently denied the state's motion to set aside King's guilty plea.

Just prior to trial, Fisher and Cummings moved to dismiss the indictment on the ground it was based on perjured testimony, which the trial court denied. SR 253-256, T 554, 562-563. The trial judge granted the defense motion to preclude the state from arguing felony murder with burglary as the underlying felony. Fisher and Cummings, whose cases had been severed, T 159, were tried before separate juries on January 30-February 3, 1995.

B. Guilt Phase Proceedings

The victim's father, Shelton Lucas, Sr., testified that on the night of the shooting, Shelton, Jr., was living at 5206

Washington Estates Drive with his mother, Charlsie Lucas, and his brother and sister. Mr. Lucas was separated from his wife but was visiting that day. Charlsie Lucas's brother, Karlon Johnson, nicknamed "Dap," also was visiting that day. Dap had previously lived there, and his car was still parked in the carport. Mr. Lucas last saw "Dap" at the house around 7 p.m. He was wearing a white t-shirt and blue jeans, the same as Mr. Lucas. Both men were about 6'1" and 210-220 pounds. T 637-639.

Around 9 p.m., Mr. Lucas went out into the carport to smoke a cigarette. He smoked his cigarette just outside the door leading from the kitchen to the carport, while standing on the top of three stairs that led down into the carport. The carport

⁴The nolle pros was conditioned on Dixon's waiver of speedy trial. T 221-222.

was open on two sides, the sides facing Washington Estates and Dostie. Dap's car was parked in the carport in front of the door leading into the kitchen and facing the road. Mr. Lucas testified his body was visible above the roof of Dap's car from T 657. An investigator testified the roof of the his thighs up. car came two-thirds of the way up the door. T 793. Mr. Lucas said the kitchen and living room lights were on, but the carport light was off. The carport was much darker than it appeared in State's Exhibit 1. T **663.** As Mr. Lucas turned to go back inside, he saw a car coming down Dostie Drive, to which he paid little attention. Т 639-640. There were bushes on that side of the carport, but he could see through the bushes. T 661. He did not know if he would have been visible from the street at night with the carport light off. T 662. He went inside, closed the door, and walked through the living room, about ten steps. He was halfway across the living room when he heard what sounded like firecrackers. His wife, who was sleeping on the couch with Shelton, Jr., woke up and said their son had been hit. Т 640. 656, 665.

The medical examiner testified Shelton, Jr., died from a single gunshot wound to the top of his head. T 691. The wound was oval, meaning the bullet passed through a secondary target and tumbled before hitting Shelton. T 701.

⁵The Lucas residence was on the corner of Washington Estates and Dostie. The house faced Washington Estates, the carport faced Dostie. <u>See</u> State's Exhibit 13. A facsimile of State's Exhibit 13, as well as a drawing of the house derived from State's Exhibits 1-8, is attached hereto as Appendix A.

Dap testified he was at his sister's house three to five times a week, T 718. His car, which was "pretty distinguishable," had been parked in her carport since January. T 719. On February 15, 1994, he left his sister's house at 4 p.m. to get beer at the corner store. T 710. He and three friends went to get more beer between 7 and 8. They ran into another friend, Jason Robinson, at the corner. As they crossed the street to Popeye's, a car drove by with its lights off. yelled at the driver, Andre Fisher, to turn on the lights. The car turned into Popeye's, and Andre jumped out, and said, 'What's up, what's up here." They started talking, and Andre swung at Dap, missing. Dap then hit Andre in the head with a quart bottle. T 711-712. Four other guys were with Dap when this occurred. T 721. Dap denied telling the others to "smoke" Andre. T 720. Jason broke up the fight, and Andre got in his car and left. Dap walked back to his sister's house, then rode down to the southside with a friend to calm down. T 713. Before this incident, Dap had never seen Andre Fisher before in his life. He had met Derrick Cummings before this, though. T 719.

Jason Robinson, age 18, testified he was friends with Dap and hung out daily in Dap's sister's yard. T 722, 745. Jason ran into Dap and his friends on the corner of Soutel and Washington Estates around 7:30 p.m. the night of the shooting. T 723. As they crossed the street to Popeye's, Andre Fisher drove by with his lights off. Dap asked Andre to turn on his lights and slow down. Jason saw Dap and Andre arguing face-to-face, like they were fixing to fight. T 724. Jason could not see

whether Andre swung at Dap before Dap hit him. It did not look like he did, though, because Andre got hit in the back and he did not have a chance to swing any punches. T 746. Andre never threatened Dap afterwards, he just kept saying, "Dap, why did you do it?" T 745-746. Jason grabbed Andre and tried to get him in his car. Andre resisted but Jason got him to leave. The others left, too. T 725-726.

After the confrontation at Popeye's, Jason rode his bicycle around, then returned to the corner of Soutel and Washington T 726-727. As he was talking to a man named "Cat-Eye," Estates. Derrick Cummings and Michael Levy drove up in a burgundy and gray Chevy, asking where was the guy who was in the fight. T 727-729. Derrick had a Uzi-type gun in his lap. Jason told them no one was around, and they headed down Soutel towards Sherwood. About 15 to 30 minutes later, a white Honda Accord with darkly tinted windows came down Soutel from Sherwood and turned onto Washington Estates. Jason recognized the car as the one Marion King drove. Jason put up his hands, but the car headed on down Washington Estates. There were four people in the car. Jason recognized Andre Fisher as the front seat passenger. T 731-733. The car went down to the stop sign at Dostie and looked like it was going left when it made a wide right instead. T minute or two later, Jason heard shots. He rode down the street and heard Dap's sister screaming. T 736,751.

Michael Levy Gardner, age 22, testified he was with Derrick Cummings at Derrick's grandmother's house in Sherwood around 5 p.m. the day of the shooting. T 765,767. They played

basketball, then Michael drove Derrick in his mother's burgundy gray Chevrolet to Derrick's apartment in Baymeadows, where they stayed thirty minutes. T 768. They picked up Michael's little sister, then went to see his cousin, Richard Mote. At Richard's house, Derrick got paged. T 769. When he called the number back, he learned Dap had 'jumped on Andre." This was around 8 p.m. T 770. Derrick was upset and asked Michael to "take me to get my shit," meaning his gun. Michael drove Derrick to Derrick's apartment, where they stayed five minutes. T 771. As they drove down U.S. 1, Derrick told Michael to pull over, and he had a short conversation with two guys on the street. Michael dropped Derrick off at his grandmother's, where Fisher also lived. T 772.

Later, Michael and his cousin Donnie Bell were at Jennings Barbecue, about five minutes from Washington Estates and Soutel, when they heard police sirens. They followed the rescue vehicle to Dap's house, where they saw a lady running around, saying, "Oh my God, my baby. Oh, my baby." T 773-776. They went back to Jennings, then headed home down Soutel. At Sibbald and Soutel, they ran into Derrick. Derrick jumped out of Kevin Dixon's Jeep, and Michael asked him what happened. Derrick said he did not know. When Michael told him, "A baby got shot," Derrick said, 'So fuck it." T 777. Michael never saw Derrick with a weapon that night. T 781. The next day, Derrick asked Michael to tell

⁶Though only two years younger, Derrick Cummings is Andre Fisher's nephew. Derrick's grandmother is Fisher's mother, Fisher was twenty-one and Derrick was nineteen when the crime was committed.

the police he, Michael, and Richard were all playing cards at Donnie's house when the shooting occurred. T 779.

Richard Mote testified Derrick and Michael were at his apartment between 6 and 7:30 p.m. the night of the shooting. T 870-871. Derrick got paged. When he returned the call, he learned Dap had jumped on Andre. Richard did not know who Derrick called. Derrick was angry. He and Michael left. T 872.

Margie Manley testified Derrick Cummings was her boyfriend and living with her in Baymeadows at the time of the shooting. T 907-908. Andre and Derrick came over that night around 10:00 p.m. Andre had a big knot on his head, which was oozing blood. He told her he was in a fight with his brother, then later said he was in a fight with some guys at a club. T 909-910. Andre asked Margie what time the news came on, and they watched the 11:00 news together in the living room. Derrick was in the bedroom, which also had a T.V. When Andre heard a child had been shot, he seemed "stunned." T 910-911. Derrick and Andre both stayed the night. Derrick and Margie slept in the bedroom, Andre slept in the living room. Derrick and Andre were still there when Margie left the next morning. T 912. That evening, Margie received a message from Andre that there would be a note for her at home. T 913. The note said to tell the detectives she was his girlfriend and was with him when the shooting took place. T 914.

That evening the police recovered a 9 millimeter unloaded Glock pistol from Margie's apartment. T 925, 927, 931, 936. Two fingerprints from the Glock were identified as belonging to

Derrick Cummings. T 953-954. Police also retrieved the note Margie had found, which a handwriting expert identified as having been written by Andre Fisher.. T 971.

Thirty-five shell casings were found on Dostie Drive East, all of them in the road. R 84-85, T 820, T 831, T 841. The shell casings came from three different firearms, all 9 millimeter caliber. T 989, 1000. Nine of the shell casings were typical of Glocks, twenty-three were consistent with Uzi pistols, and the remaining three were probably fired from a Tech 9. T 1000,.

Thirty-five bullet fragments were recovered. Of the thirtyone fragments found in the carport, fifteen were found on or near
Dap's car. T 846. The car itself was hit five or six times,
though no windows were damaged. T 837, 794. Sixteen bullets
went into or around the brick north wall, which was about sixtyfive feet from the road. T 851, 860. Four bullets went through
the door in the north wall that led to the kitchen. T 852-853.
During the initial investigation, two bullet fragments were
recovered from inside the house, one from the dining room area,
one from the utility room. T 859. A year later, police
recovered another bullet fragment, which Lucas family members
found inside the house. T 822-824. Investigators were puzzled
as to how the bullet got to the sofa area. T 855.

The bullet fragments fell into two groups, those characteristic of Clock firearms and those characteristic of Uzis. T 994. The bullet fragment recovered from inside the house by the victim's family was consistent with having been

fired from an **Uzi**. T 996. The bullet that struck the child was consistent with having been fired from a Glock pistol, T 997, though the expert could not say it was fired from the Glock found in Margie Manley's apartment. T 1008.

At the close of the state's case-in-chief, Fisher moved for judgment of acquittal, which was denied. T 1029-1034. Fisher presented no evidence. The trial judge denied the state's request to charge the jury on felony murder, with burglary as the felony, and the case went to the jury solely on a theory of premeditated murder. T 1040. During deliberations, the jury passed out the following question: "Does the concept of transfered intent apply to the subparagraphs of the verdict?" T 1273. After determining that by subparagraphs, the jurors meant the unnumbered paragraphs having to do with carrying a firearm, T 1275, the trial judge responded to their question by stating, 'The concept of transferred intent applies only to 1st degree murder." T 1277-1278. The jury found Fisher guilty of premeditated murder while carrying a firearm. R 256, T 1291.

C. Penalty Phase Proceedings

Fisher's penalty phase was held March 10, 1995. Detective Goff testified Fisher had been convicted of an armed robbery that occurred September 12, 1990. Fisher pulled a pistol on two people at a car wash, then took their money and car. Fisher confessed and was sentenced to six years. He was released to Leon County under the Supervised Release Program on October 1, 1993, and was discharged from Supervised Release on December 1, 1993. T 1519-1522.

Two members of the victim's family read victim impact statements to the jury. Virginia Johnson, the victim's grandmother, and Charlsie Lucas, the victim's mother, described Shelton, Jr., and the pain and suffering they and the rest of his family had experienced since his death. T 1523-1529.

Four members of Andre Fisher's family testified on his behalf. Wiletta Cummings, Andre's mother, said she raised seven children of her own, along with three others, including Derrick Cummings, her grandson. T 1531, 1535. Andre finished high school, then went to the Marine Academy School. He worked in a seafood restaurant in Tallahassee. He was quiet, stayed to himself a lot, read a lot. He took care of the younger children, often taking them to football and basketball games. Mrs. Cummings knew about Andre's 1991 conviction. She believed he got involved in crime by 'running with the wrong crowd." After he did his time, he was afraid to leave the house. He was looking for a job and had filled out some applications. He never had a problem with alcohol or drugs. T 1531-1533.

Mary Cummings, Andre's grandmother, said Andre was a quiet child who never got into trouble growing up and was never violent. T 1536, 1539. Her understanding of the robbery was that it was a school prank that began when the robbery victim took Andre's money. T 1537. When questioned by the prosecutor about the robbery involving the stolen jewelry and car, Mrs. Cummings said she did not know anything about that. T 1541.

Ella Green, a family friend, said she worked with Andre's grandmother at the hospital and met Andre and his family in 1978.

She was in the house two or three times a week and every other weekend. It was hard for her to believe Andre was on trial for murder. She had never known Andre to be disrespectful. She had never known him to be violent or to get in fights. T 1546-1548.

Jenetta Lynette Thorpe, Andre's older sister, said Andre was the youngest of the seven children. He was very quiet, both at home and at school. Her mother worked two jobs, so Jenetta helped raise Andre. Andre loved kids and was always watching out for them. He loved to read and be read to. When he was young, they used to tease him and called him 'Red Fox" because he had red hair and red skin. He was not violent, did not even fight back. He shied away from conflict because he was a "scary frail little boy." T 1550-1552.

The jury recommended the death sentence by a vote of 8 to 4. T 1614.

At sentencing on March 30, 1995, Fisher made a brief statement, apologizing to the court and the victim's family. T 1623. The victim's father asked the judge to impose the death penalty. T 1624.

On July 28, 1995, the trial court imposed the death sentence, finding four aggravating circumstances (prior violent felony conviction, great risk of death to many persons, committed during a burglary, and cold, calculated and premeditated) and no mitigating circumstances. The sentencing order is attached herein as Appendix B. R 284-304.

Notice of belated appeal was granted October 10, 1995. R 317.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Point 1. This was not a first-degree murder. A car carrying four people, including Fisher, fired thirty-five shots from three guns into the Lucas carport. Four shots went through the kitchen door, one of which entered the living room, where it struck and killed a sleeping child. The child's father was in the living room when the shots were fired but had been standing in the carport moments earlier. The state's theory was that Fisher saw Mr. Lucas in the carport, mistook him for Dap, and shot to kill because Dap had hit him in the head with a beer bottle earlier that evening. Though the evidence is consistent with the state's theory, it is equally consistent with Fisher's innocence. First, the evidence does not establish intent to kill by anyone, much less premeditated murder. Second, since there were only three shooters, the evidence does not even establish Fisher's participation. The evidence is entirely consistent with a spur-of-the-moment shooting in the nature of a warning, which Fisher neither intended nor participated in. Fisher's firstdegree murder conviction must be reversed.

Point 2. The evidence does not support the cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravating factor because, as explained above, there was no evidence of simple premeditation, much less heightened premeditation or a prearranged plan to kill before the crime began. The evidence does not support the great risk of harm to many persons aggravator because the shooting placed only three persons at risk. The evidence does not support the felony murder/burglary aggravator because no Florida

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