IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA.

FILED

STO J. WHITE

MAY 20 1997

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

ANDRE FISHER,

Appellant,

V .

CASE NO. 86,656

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DWAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CURTIS M. FRENCH
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLORIDA BAR NO. 291692

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL PL-01 THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

There are four issues on appeal: (1) The evidence is sufficient to support the jury's conclusion that Fisher is guilty of premeditated murder. Although the most likely scenario is that Fisher himself was one of the shooters, even if he was not, the jury was authorized from the evidence to conclude that Fisher was a party to the crime of premeditated murder, and to reject any defense theory that he was merely an innocent bystander to a murder that was committed at his behest and for his benefit, and for which he concocted a false alibi. (2) (A) The evidence supports the trial court's CCP finding. After Fisher came out on the short end of a confrontation with Dap, he enlisted the assistance of his nephew Derek Cummings and two others, and went on a "search and destroy" mission to Dap's home, where Fisher spotted someone who looked like Dap sitting in the carport. They stopped the car, exited the vehicle, and fired 35 rounds of nine-millimeter gunfire at a doorway which Dap's brother-in-law had just entered. had over an hour to reflect on his actions, and to consider the consequences. Although the wrong person was murdered, this was a cold, calculated and premeditated killing. (B) The trial court was authorized to find that Fisher and the others knowingly created a great risk of death to many persons when he and two others fired 35

nine-millimeter rounds into a dwelling occupied by five persons, located in a residential area. Any error, however, is harmless because the trial court gave this aggravator only "slight" weight, and because there are three other strong aggravators to support Fisher's death sentence. (C) Because entry by instrument is sufficient to establish the element of entry where the instrument is actually used to commit the contemplated crime, the trial court properly found that the murder was committed during the commission of burglary. Although there seems to be no Florida precedent addressing specifically an entry by bullets, there is Florida precedent for finding entry by instrument, and the treatises indicate that a bullet can be such an instrument. (3) In this case, four aggravators were found, against no mitigation. Fisher's death sentence is not disproportionate to sentences imposed in similar cases. (4) There was no error in admitting victim impact testimony at the penalty phase describing the personal characteristics of the victim and the impact his death had on his family.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE EVIDENCE IS LEGALLY SUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT FISHER'S CONVICTION FOR PREMEDITATED MURDER

It is the State's contention that the evidence is legally sufficient to support the jury's conclusion that Fisher and Cummings were engaged in a common criminal scheme to avenge Fisher's beating at the hands of Dap by searching him out and retaliating massively with a barrage of nine-millimeter gunfire aimed at the person they thought was Dap. "As such each was a principal to the death. . . . By actively operating together each was guilty of the acts of the other." Hall v. State, 403 So.2d 1319, 1320 (Fla. 1981). Even if Fisher himself did not fire a gun, he was a principle to the crime of murder, because an 'aider and abettor is responsible for all acts committed by his accomplice in furtherance of the criminal scheme." Hall v. State, 403 So.2d 1321, 1323 (Fla. 1981).

When reviewing a motion for judgment of acquittal:

It is the trial judge's proper task to **review** the evidence to determine the presence or absence of competent evidence from which the jury could infer guilt to the exclusion of all other inferences. That view of the evidence must be taken in the light most favorable to the state. [Cit.] The state is not required to "rebut conclusively every possible variation"

of events which could be inferred from the evidence, but only to introduce competent evidence which is inconsistent with the defendant's theory of events.

<u>State v. Law</u>, 559 So.2d 187, 189 (Fla. 1989). Furthermore:

If there is room for a difference of opinion between reasonable people as to the proof or facts from which an ultimate fact is to be established, or where there is room for such differences on the inferences to be drawn from conceded facts, the court should submit the case to the jury.

Taylor v. State, 583 So.2d 323, 328 (Fla. 1991). Once the case is submitted to the jury, whether the State's evidence is sufficient 'to exclude all reasonable hypotheses of innocence is for the jury to determine," and this Court 'will not reverse a judgment based upon a verdict returned by a jury where there is substantial, competent evidence to support the jury verdict." Rose v. State. 425 So.2d 521, 523 (Fla. 1983). Accord, State, supra ('Once that threshold is met, it becomes the jury's duty to exclude every reasonable hypothesis of innocence beyond a reasonable doubt.").

Fisher contends the evidence shows only his presence at the scene of the shooting. Notably, this is more than the evidence showed in <u>Chaudoin v. State</u>, 362 So.2d 398 (Fla. 2d DCA 1978), which Fisher cites. Unlike the defendant in <u>Chaudoin</u>, Fisher indisputably was present at the scene of the shooting. But he was

Fisher's defeat in an altercation with Dap. Fisher argues on appeal that being "hit on the head with a beer bottle hardly establishes a motive for a murder." Initial Brief of Appellant at 25. Fisher is confusing motive with justification. Fisher clearly was not legally justified in using deadly force to avenge being conked on the head with a beer bottle over an hour earlier, but just as clearly such act was the motive for Fisher's massive deadly retaliation. The evidence points to no other reasonable explanation for the attack on the house where Dap stayed.

The elements of assistance of the perpetrator and intent may be proven by a combination of surrounding circumstances from which a jury can reasonably infer defendant's guilt. [Cits.]

Mere presence at the scene, knowledge of the crime, and flight are insufficient to justify a conviction. [Cit.] Where the state presents additional evidence, however, which contradicts the defendant's theory of innocence, the trial court's decision to deny a motion of acquittal must be affirmed. [Cits.]

A.B.G. v. State, 586 So.2d 445, 447 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991).

The evidence shows that Fisher did not willingly terminate his initial confrontation with Dap; he had to be forced to leave. Shortly thereafter, Fisher's nephew Derek Cummings was contacted on

his pager. 5 When Cummings heard about the attack, he got a gun and attempted to ascertain Dap's whereabouts. Then he went to Fisher's house and, very soon afterwards, Jason Robinson saw a car with four people in it--including Fisher in the front passenger seat--heading up the street toward's Dap's house. (Robinson, by the way, knew exactly what they were up to, and tried to stop them.) Sitting in the darkened carport of the Lucas home, next to Dap's car, was a person of the same height and build as Dap, dressed in a white Tshirt and blue jeans like Dap had been dressed earlier that evening (as Fisher knew, and could see from his vantage point in the passenger seat). At least three people in the Honda fired a total of 35 nine-millimeter rounds at the kitchen doorway just seconds after this person entered the house. Following the shooting, Fisher went with Cummings to the latter's girlfriend's house, where he spent the night. The next day, Fisher attempted to concoct a false alibi for his whereabouts the previous evening.

Although the most likely scenario is that Fisher himself was one of the three shooters, even if he was not, the evidence, in toto, is sufficient to contradict the defense theory that Fisher

⁵ Although Fisher argues on appeal that it "cannot be assumed" that he was the one who paged Cummings, the State would note that trial counsel conceded during closing argument that Fisher had called Cummings about the incident (XI 1240).

merely was present at the scene of a crime to which he was not a party. 6 As the State noted at trial, Fisher had the motive. He was the one who started a fight with Dap, he was the one with the knot on his head as a result, he was the one who had to be forced to leave the scene of the original altercation, and he was the one who had the most reason to seek vengeance. Fisher was the instigator of the murder. Without Fisher, Cummings would never have gotten involved and there would have been no murder. Furthermore, Fisher not only accompanied Cummings to the murder scene with two others in a car whose occupants collectively were armed to the teeth, he remained in Cummings' company for' the remainder of the night and attempted the following day to concoct a false alibi. Fisher's attempt to establish a false alibi is direct evidence that he was guilty of murder. Brown v. State, 391 So.2d 729, 730 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980) (fact that defendant lied about his whereabouts on the day of the crime was evidence of guilt);

⁶ The most reasonable scenario is that Fisher was one of the shooters. At least three of the four people in the Honda fired nine millimeter weapons, most likely from outside the car (because otherwise at least one of the shooters would have had to shoot through the other two and also because expended shells would have been flying throughout the inside of the car). If one of the four was not a shooter, it most likely was the driver, who would have remained inside the car during the shooting to prepare for a quick getaway. Fisher, the evidence clearly shows, was not the driver.

State v. Frazier, 407 So.2d 1087, 1089 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982) (false exculpatory statement affirmatively shows consciousness of guilt and unlawful intent); Smith v. State, 424 So.2d 726, 730 (Fla. 1983) (fact that defendant had lied to police to avoid detection was relevant indication of guilt); Hartley v. State, 686 So.2d 1316, 1320 (Fla. 1996) (after-the-fact evidence of desire to evade prosecution is evidence of consciousness of guilt).

Contrary to Fisher's contention, finding him guilty does not require 'an impermissible pyramiding of inferences." Initial Brief of Appellant at 21. Instead, the State has presented "a chain of substantial, credible evidence to support appellant's conviction of first degree murder." Fratello v. State, 496 So.2d 903, 908 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986). As in Fratello, the jury here could properly have

⁷ A pyramid of inferences would occur only if each of the succession of inferences rested entirely on the preceding one being accepted, so that the ultimate inference fails if any one of the subsidiary inferences fails. A chain of independent circumstances, on the other hand, may support an ultimate conclusion even if one subsidiary circumstances rejected are furthermore, even weakly-established circumstances can contribute some weight in support of the ultimate conclusion. Guilt ultimately is established beyond a reasonable doubt by the combined weight of all the facts and circumstances of the case. The more the the more strongly the ultimate conclusion is circumstances, The State makes these common-sense observations only because the appellant seems almost to be implying that the State's case would be stronger if it relied upon fewer circumstances, when in fact the contrary is true.

concluded that Fisher was a participant in the crime, and that any theory that he was an innocent bystander was "not reasonable." The jury was authorized to conclude that any defense theory that Fisher did not aid, abet, counsel, or otherwise procure this murder (8777.011, Fla. Stat.) was not reasonable under the evidence.

Fisher argues further, however, that, even if the evidence establishes that he participated in the crime, the evidence 'fell far short of establishing premeditated murder." Initial Brief of Appellant at 23. Fisher acknowledges that premeditation may be inferred from such matters as the nature of the weapon used, the presence or absence of adequate provocation, previous difficulties between the parties, and the manner in which the homicide was committed. Fisher further acknowledges that evidence of planning, killing are motive, and the manner of all relevant to premeditation. Fisher insists, however, that the evidence does not demonstrate a premeditated intent to kill. The state does not agree.

First of all, the evidence shows "prior conduct of the victim known to have angered the defendant," which is precisely the kind of fact from which a motive to kill may be inferred according to the very authority cited in Fisher's brief. W. R. LaFave and A. W. Scott, 2 Substantive Criminal Law, § 7.7 at 238 (1986), quoted in

Initial Brief of Appellant at 24. Secondly, the evidence shows that as the result of this prior conduct, Cummings and other members of the shooting party armed themselves and set out after This is precisely the kind of evidence which, according to Dap. LaFave and Scott, supra, illustrates planning activity directed toward a killing purpose. Thirdly, the manner of killing shows premeditation. Although this was not a close-range, precision attack, the evidence does demonstrate a preconceived intent to kill. Upon arrival at Dap's residence, Fisher and the others did not wait to see if the person they thought was Dap would attack The person in the carport, in fact, made absolutely no them. threatening moves, and did nothing whatever to provoke the occupants of the Honda. Instead, the occupants of the Honda simply exited the vehicle and began blasting away at the doorway into which Shelton Lucas, Sr., had just entered, firing 35 rounds in all, of which the majority struck in, through or immediately around the door. 8 As the photographs in evidence show, this person would

Fisher contends the State conceded at trial that the shooters may simply have been shooting at the car. The prosecutor did say--sarcastically--that "I guess anything is possible," but it is obvious that the State did not concede that such purpose was a reasonable possibility; in fact, Mr. de la Rionda's argument was a clear rejection of any theory that the defendants were shooting at the car: the car was hit only five times by 'fragments" and all of the car windows were intact; most of the shots had hit in and

have been visible through the doorway as he proceeded from the kitchen to the living room. A rational trier of fact readily could find from the evidence that the shooters intended to kill, not merely to "intimidate, harass, threaten, or warn him to leave them alone," as appellant argues in his brief (p. 28).9

The Constitutional test for sufficiency of the evidence is 'whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt."

Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 318-19, 99 S.Ct. 2781, 61

L.Ed.2d 560 (1979). This test 'gives full play to the responsibility of the trier of fact fairly to resolve conflicts in the testimony, to weigh the evidence, and to draw reasonable inferences from basic facts to ultimate facts." Ibid. (Emphasis supplied.)

On appeal, only the legal sufficiency, not the weight, of the evidence is in issue. <u>Tibbs v. State.</u> 397 **So.2d** 1120, 1123 (Fla.

around the kitchen door through which Lucas had entered the house (XI 1219-23) .

⁹ Fisher contends that shooting into a dwelling is no more than second degree murder. However, none of the cases he cites in his brief for this proposition involve defendants who fired massive numbers of rounds at a doorway into which their target had just entered, as is the case here.

1981), aff'd, 457 U.S. 31, 102 S.Ct. 221, 72 L.Ed.2d 652 (1982). This Court has held that a judgement of conviction comes to this Court with a presumption of correctness, and a defendant's claim of insufficiency will not prevail where there is substantial, competent evidence to support the verdict and judgment. Spinkellink v. State, 313 So.2d 666, 671 (Fla. 1975). Moreover, this Court has specifically applied the Jackson v. Virginia standard in Melendez v. State, 498 So.2d 1258 (Fla. 1986). So have the District Courts of Appeal. Kaufman v. St-at-e, 429 So.2d 841 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983); D.M. v. State, 394 So.2d 520 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981). As in these cases, Cummings' jury weighed the evidence, resolved any conflicts in the testimony, and drew reasonable inferences from the basic facts to the ultimate facts.

The evidence supports Fisher's conviction for premeditated murder.

ISSUE II

THE EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THEAGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES OF (A) THE HOMICIDE COMMITTED IN Α COLD, CALCULATED PREMEDITATED MANNER; (B) FISHER KNOWINGLY CREATED A GREAT RISK OF HARM TO MANY PERSONS; AND (C) THE HOMICIDE WAS COMMITTED DURING A BURGLARY

A. The trial court did not err by finding this murder to have been cold, calculated and premeditated.

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